THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From The Administrative Law Court

Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000607

---

**RECEIVED**

JUL 30 2019

SC Court of Appeals

ANTHONY ENRIQUEZ # 215961 .....APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF  
PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES .....RESPONDENT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**JOHN H. BLUME**

**AMELIA C. HRITZ**

Cornell Law School  
159 Charles Evans Hughes Hall  
Ithaca, NY 14853  
(607) 255-1030  
jb94@cornell.edu  
ach254@cornell.edu

**HANNAH L. FREEDMAN #103373**

Justice 360  
900 Elmwood Ave, Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29201

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Whether the ALC violated due process and its own procedural rules when it dismissed Enriquez's appeal for want of jurisdiction solely on the basis of the issues he identified in his notice of appeal, without giving him an opportunity to file an initial brief with a statement of issues?
2. Whether the only appropriate remedy for the ALC's summary dismissal, without first assessing its own jurisdiction, is a remand to give the appellant an opportunity to file a brief and a record?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anthony Enriquez has served twenty-five years in prison for a crime he committed when he was seventeen. Unfiled Agency Record p. 1.<sup>1</sup> During that time, he has matured and taken advantage of opportunities to better himself through education and ministry programs. *Id.* 7–9. Nevertheless, he has been denied parole three times. *Id.* 221–23.

Before his most recent parole hearing on January 23, 2019, Enriquez provided the Parole Board (the Board) with a memo explaining adolescent brain development, the circumstances of his childhood and offense, his subsequent rehabilitation, and his future plans for release. *Id.* 1–10. The memo emphasized that Enriquez’s crime was a product of his youth and immaturity and explained that Enriquez has taken full responsibility for his impetuous behavior over two decades prior and (repeatedly) expressed profound remorse for his actions. *Id.* 5–6. As evidence of rehabilitation, Enriquez provided the Board with a risk assessment conducted by a licensed psychiatrist who concluded that Enriquez is “a low risk to violently reoffend and is a viable candidate for parole,” *id.* 11, copies of transcripts, certificates, awards, and diplomas he has earned in prison, Unfiled Agency Record pp. 14–44, and letters of support (including a promise of gainful employment) from family and friends. *Id.* 56–66. Enriquez spoke at his parole hearing and described his feelings of remorse and his empathy for the victim’s family. Recording of Jan. 23, 2019 Parole Hearing. Enriquez also proffered statements from his family, pastor, psychiatrist, and attorney, who described the ways in which he has been rehabilitated and the kind of man he has become as a mature adult. *Id.*

---

<sup>1</sup> Enriquez prepared a record on appeal for his case before the ALC but the ALC dismissed the appeal before he could file it. As is explained in greater detail in Part III *infra*, the fact that there was no record before the ALC means that no portion of the agency record is before this Court. *See* Rule 210(c), SCACR (“The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal.”). Because there is no record properly before this Court, there is no way for the Court to assess the merits of Enriquez’s case. Enriquez provides this background information for the sole purpose of contextualizing the ALC’s dismissal.

In addition to explaining Enriquez's background, the parole memo argued that since he has been incarcerated there has been a sea-change in constitutional juvenile sentencing law that "requires decision-makers to consider the influence of the juvenile offender's youth on the offense and juveniles' innate propensity to change." Unfiled Agency Record pp. 1–2. Specifically, Enriquez asked the Board to consider *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), which held that no juvenile can be condemned to die in prison unless he has been given an individualized hearing, similar to a capital sentencing, where the sentencer expressly considers the juvenile's "diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change," and *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S. Ct. 718, 725, 736–37 (2016), which held that *Miller* announced a new substantive rule of constitutional law and therefore applies retroactively. After *Montgomery*, Enriquez argued, "a lifetime in prison is a disproportionate sentence for all but the rarest of children whose crimes reflect 'irreparable corruption,'" and because he is rehabilitated, he did not fall into that category of the rarest, extraordinary child who deserves to die in prison. *Montgomery*, 136 S. Ct. at 736–37; Unfiled Agency Record pp. 7–9.

Most importantly, Enriquez drew the Board's attention to *Aiken v. Byars*, a seminal case from the South Carolina Supreme Court that undid life-without-parole sentences for all juvenile offenders in South Carolina, ordered new sentencing hearings for offenders serving those sentences, and, consistent with *Miller*, instituted a new, individualized sentencing process for juveniles facing the harshest penalties. 410 S.C. 534, 536–37, 543, 765 S.E.2d 572, 573, 577 (2014). *Miller*, the *Aiken* Court reasoned, "does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered." *Id.* Accordingly, in South Carolina today, a juvenile facing the charges that Tony faced in 1994 would be entitled to a hearing that carefully considers the factors outlined in *Aiken* and a reasoned opinion affirmatively taking youth into account. *Id.* No sentencing body, administrative agency, or state official in any role has ever

fully explored the relationship between Enriquez's youth at the time of his crime and the severity of the sentence he received.

The Board did not ask any questions or make any comments at Enriquez's 2019 hearing. Recording of Jan. 23, 2019 Parole Hearing. Thirty seconds after the hearing ended, the Board denied parole by a vote of five to one. *Id.* The Board's reasons focused exclusively on factors that will never change: the nature and seriousness of the current offense, an indication of violence in this or previous offense, and the use of a deadly weapon in this or previous offense. Unfiled Agency Record p. 223.

Enriquez appealed his parole denial to the Administrative Law Court (ALC). R. p. 1. The one-page notice stated that Enriquez "*intends to argue* that the Parole Board has unconstitutionally imposed a life without parole sentence on . . . Enriquez, a juvenile at the time of his offense, when it has consistently denied him parole for the past 5 years in spite of a highly favorable institutional record." *Id.* (emphasis added).<sup>2</sup> Enriquez's appeal was assigned on February 27, 2019 to Judge Deborah Brooks Durden. R. p. 2. This started the ninety-day clock for Enriquez to submit his initial brief. SCALC Rule 60(A). However, on March 12, 2019—thirteen days after the case was assigned to her and over two months too early—Judge Durden dismissed Enriquez's appeal. R. pp. 6–7.

The dismissal order relied on the only information before the ALC: a non-jurisdictional statement in the Notice of Appeal and the Board's January 24, 2019 denial notice. The bulk of the single-page order reads as follows:

---

<sup>2</sup> Juvenile offenders have filed similar notices of appeal to the ALC following parole denials in other cases, including Enriquez's first appeal. *See, e.g.*, Notice of Appeal at 1, *Buchanan v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, No. 18-ALC-15-0039 (Dec. 12, 2018) ("Appellant intends to argue that the Parole Board has unconstitutionally imposed a life without parole sentence on Stewart Buchanan, a juvenile at the time of his offense, when it has consistently denied him parole for the past 35 years in spite of a highly favorable institutional record."). In those cases, however, the presiding ALC judges have complied with the proper procedure and permitted the parties to file briefs and a record on appeal. *See* Brief of Appellant, *Buchanan v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, No. 18-ALC-15-0039 (May 14, 2019).

Appellant filed an appeal with the ALC on February 25, 2019. Appellant *argues* in his appeal that the Department’s Board has unconstitutionally imposed a life without parole sentence on him when it has consistently denied him parole for the past five years in spite of a highly favorable institutional record. . . . [T]his Court’s authority to review a decision of the Board is limited to determining if the Board followed the proper procedure and considered the relevant factors. If that procedure was followed, any decision of the Board constitutes a routine denial of parole which this Court has no jurisdiction to hear. The Notice of Rejection dated January 24, 2019, states that the parole board considered the relevant factors in reaching its decision. Thus, this is a routine denial of parole, and the ALC has no authority to consider this appeal.

R. p. 6 (emphasis added). Because Judge Durden dismissed the appeal before the filing deadlines expired, the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP) was not afforded the opportunity to file a record, Enriquez never had an opportunity to file a brief, and no judicial or quasi-judicial body has ever considered any of the evidence that Enriquez put before the Board. This appeal followed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This Court’s review of a decision from the ALC is confined to the record that was before the ALC, and the Court “may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the [ALC] as to the weight of evidence on questions of fact.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); Rule 210(c), SCACR. The Court reviews questions of law *de novo* and may “reverse or modify” the ALC’s decision “if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced” because the ALC’s decision violates “constitutional or statutory provisions,” was “made upon unlawful procedure,” or is “characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); *see also Barton v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 404 S.C. 395, 400, 745 S.E.2d 110, 113 (2013).

### **ARGUMENT**

“Subject matter jurisdiction refers to [a court’s] power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” *Slezak v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 361 S.C. 327, 331, 605 S.E.2d 506, 507 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted). The ALC is a statutory creation whose

jurisdiction is limited to *de novo* review of “contested cases”<sup>3</sup> and appellate review of certain agency decisions. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-320(A); *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 376, 527 S.E.2d 742, 754 (2000). When the ALC sits in an appellate capacity, its review is confined to the record that was before the agency and some but not all of the SCALC Rules governing contested cases apply. *See Al-Shabazz*, 338 S.C. at 376, 527 S.E.2d at 754; Rule 210(c), SCACR. Specifically, SCALC Rules 9 through 32, which lay out the procedures for a contested, on-the-record evidentiary hearing before the ALC, do not apply when the ALC sits in its appellate capacity. SCALC Rules 33 through 40 and the Special Appeals Rules, which govern the filing of the notice of appeal and briefs, do apply in such circumstances. *Al-Shabazz*, 338 S.C. at 377, 527 S.E.2d at 754.<sup>4</sup>

The South Carolina Supreme Court has repeatedly addressed the question of when the ALC has power to decide an inmate’s appeal from a decision by PPP or the Department of Corrections. *See, e.g., Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 497, 661 S.E.2d 106, 110–11 (2008); *Al-Shabazz*, 338 S.C. at 367–77, 527 S.E.2d at 749–54; *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 355 S.C. 437, 441, 586 S.E.2d 124, 126 (2003). Over time, the Court has settled on the rule that the ALC has subject-matter jurisdiction over an agency’s final decision that “abrogates an inmate’s right to parole eligibility” but not over “a routine denial of parole.” *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 495, 499, 661 S.E.2d at 109, 111. This flows from the precept that “parole is a privilege, not a right,” so an inmate’s claim that he has been

---

<sup>3</sup> The legislature has defined that term: “‘Contested case’ means a proceeding including, but not restricted to, ratemaking, price fixing, and licensing, in which the legal rights, duties, or privileges of a party are required by law to be determined by an agency after an opportunity for hearing.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-310(3).

<sup>4</sup> Section V of the SCALC Rules, captioned Special Appeals, “are the exclusive rules of procedure used in appeals from the Department of Corrections and the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services.” SCALC Rule 51, 2009 Rev. Notes. Where a Special Appeals Rule does not apply, the general appellate rules (SCALC Rules 33 through 40) apply.

denied parole in the ordinary course must be dismissed as a matter of agency discretion. *See Sullivan*, 355 S.C. at 443, n.4, 586 S.E.2d at 127, n.4.

Thus, when the ALC reviews a parole denial, the first question it must answer is whether the inmate's claim involves a "routine denial of parole" or if, instead, it implicates a statutory or constitutional right. *See Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 499–500, 661 S.E.2d at 111–12. If the claim is routine, the ALC lacks subject-matter jurisdiction and must dismiss it. *Id.* If, however, the claim implicates a statutory or constitutional right—by, for example, alleging that PPP failed to follow procedural rules or violated the inmate's substantive due process rights—the ALC has subject-matter jurisdiction and must address the claim on the merits. *Id.*; *Skipper v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 370 S.C. 267, 279 n.5, 633 S.E.2d 910, 917 n.5 (Ct. App. 2006) (finding that the ALC "improperly dismissed [a prisoner's] appeal" as a routine parole denial where the ALC "had jurisdiction to dismiss the appeal on the merits").

In cases like Enriquez's, the question of the ALC's subject-matter jurisdiction overlaps with the merits: the ALC cannot know if it has jurisdiction without first assessing whether the inmate's claim implicates a liberty interest. *See Skipper*, 370 S.C. at 279 n.5, 633 S.E.2d at 917 n.5. This case, then, boils down to whether the statement of issues in the notice of appeal—the sole filing before the ALC when it dismissed Enriquez's appeal—is a sufficient basis from which the ALC can assess its own jurisdiction. For the reasons that follow, the answer is no.

**I. The ALC's dismissal for want of jurisdiction, based solely on its assessment of Enriquez's notice of appeal rather than a formal statement of issues, violated the procedural rules applicable to the ALC and minimum due process requirements.**

Administrative agencies and the quasi-judicial bodies that review agency actions must follow their own rules and regulations. *See Triska v. Dep't of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 292 S.C. 190, 194, 355 S.E.2d 531, 533 (1987). Although an agency's failure to follow its own rules does not automatically require a reversal, an agency must give "sound reasons for deviating from a rule" and "a court will look very closely

at the reasons and will hold the agency to very high standards in justifying the deviation.” Charles Alan Wright, Charles H. Koch, Jr., & Richard Murphy, 32 Fed. Prac. & Proc. § 8165 (1st ed. 2019); *see also* *Ogburn-Matthews v. Loblolly Partners (Ricefields Subdivision)*, 332 S.C. 551, 562, 505 S.E.2d 598, 603 (Ct. App. 1998), *overruled on other grounds by* *Brown v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 348 S.C. 507, 560 S.E.2d 410 (2002). Moreover, the SCALC’s promulgating statute makes the Rules mandatory, meaning the ALC’s failure to apply them is a statutory violation: “All hearings before an administrative law judge must be conducted exclusively in accordance with the rules of procedure promulgated by the court pursuant to this section.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-650(C); SCALC Rule 1 (“The promulgation of these Rules is authorized by [§ 1-23-650]. These Rules shall govern all proceedings before the Administrative Law Court . . . [and] apply exclusively in all proceedings before the Administrative Law Court.”).

Here, the ALC failed to comply with the express terms of the SCALC Rules by dismissing Enriquez’s case on the basis of the notice of appeal alone. Specifically, the ALC violated its own Rules by: not giving Enriquez an opportunity to file an initial brief; not giving Enriquez an opportunity to amend, supplement, or modify the statement of issues on appeal in his initial brief; and not giving PPP or Enriquez an opportunity to file a record on appeal. *See* SCALC Rules 51, 59–61.

- A. The SCALC Rules require the ALC to give the party seeking review an opportunity to file a statement of issues on appeal in an initial brief.

SCALC Rule 59 contemplates that the notice of appeal will act as a non-substantive place-holder, not as a jurisdictional gatekeeper. It requires the appellant to include in the notice “a brief factual basis for each expressly and specifically asserted constitutional violation.” SCALC Rule 59(B); *see also* SCALC Rule 33(B) (notice of appeal must include “a general statement of the grounds for appeal” but “[t]he grounds for appeal may be amended, supplemented or modified in the statement of issues in the brief required by Rule 37(B)(1)”). This explicit statement about the role of the notice of appeal is reinforced by

the fact that Rule 59's other requirements are non-substantive. SCALC Rule 59 (requiring inmate contact information, a copy of the final decision, and proof of service). Perhaps most telling is that the Rules contain a procedure other than dismissal for remedying a notice of appeal that does not contain the necessary information—the case is not assigned to a judge: “Notices which are not in compliance with [the Rules] will not be assigned to an administrative law judge until all required information and applicable fees are received.” SCALC Rule 59, 2014 Rev. Notes.

Rule 60(B), which governs the content of briefs filed with the ALC in its appellate capacity, confirms an understanding of the notice of appeal as a non-jurisdictional placeholder. *See* SCALC Rule 60(B)(1). The Rule provides that the appellant's brief must contain a statement of issues on appeal that is “concise and direct as to each issue and may be stated in question form.” *Id.* Consistent with Rule 59's role as a place-keeper, Rule 60(B)(1) clearly governs the jurisdictional, substantive statement of issues: “no point will be considered that is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal.” *Id.* Moreover, the Rule is mandatory in that it requires the appellant to file a brief within the time period (ninety days from case assignment) or risk dismissal. SCALC Rules 60(A), 62. While a party's failure to timely file a brief may constitute waiver, the ALC's refusal to accept a brief violates the SCALC Rules. *Cf.* SCALC Rule 62 (providing for dismissal of appeal for failure to comply with the Rules).

Finally, the ALC's dismissal violated Rules 36, 58, and 61 which govern the filing of a record on appeal. Rule 36 provides that “the agency with possession of the Record shall file an original and one (1) electronic copy of the Record with the Court and serve one (1) copy on each party to the appeal” within forty-five days of the date of notice of assignment to an administrative law judge. SCALC Rule 36(A). The notes explain that this requirement applies to all agencies “other than the Department of Employment and Workforce” and that the rule “ensures that the agency must file the record only after the appellant has perfected the appeal by filing the notice of appeal and submitting the appropriate filing fee.” SCALC Rule

36, 2014 Rev. Notes. Rule 58 (made applicable to appeals from the PPP by Rule 61) outlines the contents of the record on appeal, which must include “[a]ll documents filed” and “[a]ll evidence considered.” SCALC Rules 58(A), (B), 61.

Here, the ALC dismissed Enriquez’s case thirteen days after assignment—more than two months before PPP’s time to file the record ran out, SCALC Rule 59, and nearly three months before the time for Enriquez to file his initial brief and jurisdictional statement of issues expired, SCALC Rule 60(A). When the ALC sits in its appellate capacity, SCALC Rules 36 and 51 through 66 apply. Those rules require the ALC to give the appellant an opportunity to file a brief and the agency an opportunity to file the record. By dismissing Enriquez’s case on the basis of a document intended only to stop the running of the clock, the ALC violated its own rules and Enriquez is therefore entitled to a remand.

B. Minimum due process requirements prohibit the ALC from dismissing a case without assessing its own jurisdiction.

The constitutional requirements of due process encompass notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22; *Stono River Env'tl. Protection Ass'n v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991). “The constitutional right to be heard is a basic aspect of the duty of the government to follow a fair process of decisionmaking.” *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67, 80 (1972). “[T]he fair process of decision making that [notice and an opportunity to be heard] guarantee[] works, by itself, to protect against arbitrary [decisions].” *Id.* at 81. “It has long been recognized that ‘fairness can rarely be obtained by secret, one-sided determination of facts decisive of rights. . . . And no better instrument has been devised for arriving at truth than to give a person in jeopardy of serious loss notice of the case against him and opportunity to meet it.’” *Id.* (cleaned up).

When a statutory or regulatory scheme gives notice in the form of an express time limitation, the party subject to the deadline must be made aware of it in advance. *See Link v. Wabash R. Co.*, 370 U.S.

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