STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000607

ANTHONY ENRIQUEZ, #215961.....APPELLANT

v.

RECEIVED
JUL 26 2019
SC Court of Appeals

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE
AND PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tommy Evans, Jr.
Assistant General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 50666
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

1. Pursuant to the rules of the Administrative Law Court and the Cooper decision the ALC lawfully dismissed this appeal.

The Appellant argues that the ALC unlawfully dismissed this appeal prematurely. The Appellant believes that he was not allowed an opportunity to present his position, nor was the Respondent given the opportunity to file a record on appeal.

The only matter raised in the notice of appeal is that the Appellant believes that he should have been granted parole due to an exemplary institutional record. It is his opinion that since he continues to be denied parole, he has essentially been given a life without parole sentence. Within

his brief the Appellant cites the United States Supreme Court opinion of *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 183 L.Ed.2d 407 (2012). In *Miller*, the Court decided that a person who committed an offense as a juvenile cannot be given a life sentence without possibility of parole. He also cites the United States Supreme Court case of *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 136 S.Ct. 718, 193 L.Ed. 599 (2016) in which the Court allowed the *Miller* decision to be applied retroactively. The Appellant also relies on the South Carolina Supreme Court case of *Aiken v. Byers*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) in which the South Carolina Supreme Court applied *Miller* to South Carolina juvenile life without parole sentences.

In *Aiken*, the Court ruled that a juvenile cannot be sentenced to a life without parole sentence unless the Defendant receives an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored. *Aiken*, at 578. A parole hearing is an individualized hearing where the age of the Appellant at the time the crime was committed is considered. The General Assembly created mandatory criteria that must be considered prior to each final decision. The South Carolina Code of Laws specifically state:

The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that, in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.

S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (2018).

Within South Carolina law the Department is also responsible for creating their own criteria.² This criteria must reflect all of the aspects of the statutory criteria and include a review of the prisoner's

² The board must establish written specific criteria for the granting of parole and provisional parole. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (2018).

disciplinary and other records. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-640 (2018) The Department criteria that is always considered includes:

1. The risk the inmate poses to the community;
2. The nature and seriousness of the inmate's offense, the circumstances surrounding the offense, and the inmate's attitude toward it;
3. The inmate's prior criminal record and his/her adjustment under any previous programs of supervision;
4. The inmate's attitude toward his/her family, the victim, and authority in general;
5. The inmate's adjustment while in confinement, including his/her progress in counseling, therapy, and other similar programs designed to encourage the inmate to improve himself/herself;
6. The inmate's employment history, including his/her job training and skills and his/her stability in the work place;
7. The inmate's physical, mental and emotional health;
8. The inmate's understanding of the cause of his/her past criminal conduct;
9. The inmate's efforts to solve his/her problems such as seeking treatment for substance abuse, enrolling in academic and vocational education courses, and in general using whatever resources the Department of Corrections had made available to inmates to help with their problems;
10. The adequacy of the inmate's overall parole plan. This includes living arrangements where he/she will live and who he will live with; the character of those with whom the inmate plans to associate in both his/her working hours and his/her off-work hours; the inmate's plans for gainful employment.
11. The willingness of the community into which the inmate will be released to receive the inmate;
12. The willingness of the inmate's family to allow him/her to return to the family circle;
13. The attitudes of the sentencing judge, the solicitor, and local law enforcement officers respecting the inmate's parole;
14. The feelings of the victim's family and any witnesses to the crime about the release of the inmate;

15. The actuarial risk and needs assessment outlined in section 24-21-10(F)(1) of the S.C. Code of laws; which evaluates based on criminal involvement, relationships/lifestyle, personality/attitudes, family, social exclusion and mental health;
16. Other factors considered relevant in a particular case by the Board.

The above referenced cases does not allow a life sentence **without the possibility of parole**. However, the Appellant is eligible for parole, and the parole hearing is considered the separate hearing as described in *Aiken*. As the Court can notice, the above referenced criteria reveals many aspects that must be considered prior to the offense, during the offense, and after the offense has occurred. This is exactly what was described in *Aiken* as a separate hearing to allow the consideration of the youth of the Appellant at the time he committed this offense. Therefore, the Appellant is not entitled to a separate hearing as part of his parole hearing to consider his age at the time committed the offense. The parole hearing itself is that hearing. In *Montgomery v. Louisiana* the United States Supreme Court determined:

A state may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them. Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity – and who have since matured – will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

Montgomery, at 736

In *Miller*, the United States Supreme Court decided that a state is not required to guarantee eventual freedom but must provide, “some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” *Miller*, at 2469. The Appellant argues that he was not given sufficient time to file a brief before the case was dismissed. The Respondent believes that since the Appellant failed to raise an argument within his notice of appeal that would allow the ALC jurisdiction, the lower court had no choice but to dismiss.

The ability of the ALC to narrowly review a decision of the Parole Board was given in the South Carolina Supreme Court decision of *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). In *Cooper*, the Supreme Court decided that a finding of fact was not included; however, the Court determined that the Parole Board neither, “offered an explanation nor indicated that it considered the statutory criteria of section 24-21-640, and the fifteen criteria listed on the parole form.” *Id.*, at 500. Due to this error the Court ruled that if the Board failed to consider and apply the statutory-related criteria, it has the effect of rendering an inmate parole ineligible, which warrants review by the ALC. *Id.*, at 502.

In *Cooper*, the Court established what a future Parole Board order should consist of, *Cooper* it specifically states:

We emphasize that in future parole review hearings the Parole Board may avoid the result in the instant case if it clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form. If the Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.

Id.

Within her order the ALC recognized that the proper criteria was considered as listed in the final order of denial. When this occurs the ALC has limited jurisdiction over a denial of parole because it is considered a routine denial of parole. Once this is established the ALC need not to even go any further in the appeal process.³ Since this was shown to have been done the ALC was limited in any decision she could have lawfully made regarding the denial of parole.

³ The Parole Board clearly stated in its notice of rejection that it considered the statutory criteria and the criteria set forth in Form 1212 which is sufficient under *Cooper. Compton v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 385 S.C. 476, 684 S.E.2d 175 (2009).

Pursuant to South Carolina law and *Cooper*, all that must be revealed is a finding of fact and conclusion of law that is separately stated.⁴ There exists no law that obligates the Board to state the underlying facts as to why the decision was made. There exists no particular format in which the order must be made. As long as it states a reason(s) for denial and that the criteria and risk assessment was considered the order is valid. Under section 1-23-350, a findings of fact and conclusion of law need not be presented in any particular format but need only be sufficiently detailed to enable the reviewing court to determine whether the fact findings are supported by evidence and whether the law has been correctly applied. *Cloyd v. Mabry*, 295 S.C. 86, 367 S.E.2d 171 (S.C. App. 1988). The order of denial clearly stated that the mandatory criteria and risk assessment was considered which would be a conclusion of law. The reasons for denial was lawful and reasonable, which is considered a finding of fact. These two items are clearly placed in the final order, so the ALC had no other decision but to rule in favor of the Respondent.

The ALC is allowed to review whether or not the Board followed the mandatory criteria. So the ALC rules for special appeals are only applied to this appeal.⁵ Within the Appellant's notice of appeal his reasoning for the ALC to review the final decision of the Board was not due to any failing of law or procedure. Instead he argued since he had a favorable institutional record he should not have been denied parole. The Appellant was of the belief that he is essentially being subjected to a life without parole sentence due to him continuously being denied parole. It was noticed by the ALC that this is untrue. The order of denial followed South Carolina law and the Appellant failed to raise any mistake in law or procedure. Within his notice of appeal the Appellant

⁴ A final decision shall include findings of fact and conclusions of law separately stated. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-350 (2018).

⁵ The Rules in this section apply exclusively in matters heard on appeal from final decisions pursuant *Al-Shabbaz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (2000). *Al-Shabbaz* allowed the ALC to review a decision made by the Department of Corrections. This later included parole eligibility denials *Furtick v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 352 S.C. 594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2003), and Parole Board decisions were later included in *Cooper*.

is obligated to include a brief factual basis for each expressly and specifically asserted constitutional violation. Rule 59(B) SCRALC. The Appellant only raised as a reason for appeal a matter regarding a factual basis as to why the Respondent erred in not granting him parole. A question of fact can only be determined by the Board, it is out of the reach of the ALC. The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380 (2018). The ALC also cannot reverse the decision of the Parole Board as it pertains to a denial of parole. An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-600(D)(2018). These laws and the *Cooper* decision give the ALC the extremely limited ability to review a final decision of the Parole Board. Since the Appellant within his notice of appeal failed to list any constitutional violation the ALC had a duty to dismiss pursuant to the rules. Upon motion of any party or on its own motion, an Administrative Law Judge may dismiss an appeal or resolve the appeal adversely to the offending party for failure to comply with any of the rules of procedure for appeals, including failure to comply with any of the time limits provided by this section (V) or **for the failure to provide a factual basis for each expressly and specifically asserted constitutional basis violation as prescribed by Rule 59(B).** Rule 62 SCALC (emphasis added)

2. The Appellant was never denied due process.

The Appellant argues that he was denied because he was not allowed to file a brief supporting his argument. The Appellant believes that he has a right to a meaningful review. The Appellant had an opportunity to be heard, he was allowed to appear before the Parole Board. During this appearance he was given an opportunity to present mitigating evidence. The Board

considered the fact that he was a juvenile at the time he committed the offense; and, his favorable institutional record. A mandatory risk assessment was also considered. The Appellant has a due process right to a hearing but not to be released on parole. There is no constitutional or inherent right of a convicted person to be conditionally release before the expiration of a valid sentence. *Greenholtz v. Inmates of Nebraska Penal and Correctional Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 99 S.Ct. 2100 (1979). The Appellant argued that he should have been released due to his favorable institutional record, however, no person is guaranteed parole. His notice of appeal never raised a denial of due process, nor a violation of any other Constitutional right.

The Supreme Court nor the rules ever gave the ALC the ability to freely examine the decision of the Parole Board. In order to be allowed to present a case to the ALC the Appellant must reveal in his notice of appeal that he was denied some constitutional right, or the Board failed to follow the mandatory criteria. Neither was ever raised by the Appellant in his notice of appeal. The Appellant's only reason for appeal is in his opinion the decision was unfair and he should have been granted parole.

The Appellant argues that the only remedy is that this case be remanded back to the ALC. Due to *Cooper*, the ALC has the very narrow ability to remand a decision of the Parole Board. If it is revealed that the Board followed procedures and have not violated any law the ALC has no choice but to allow the decision to remain. The Appellant raised no argument regarding the mandatory criteria. The Appellant just objected to the final outcome, which the ALC has no authority over.